1966

## Jerry W. McGuffey v. John W. Turner, Warden, Utah State Prison : Brief of Appellant

### STATEMENT OF NATURE OF CASE

The appellant, John W. Turner, Warden of the Utah State Prison, appeals from a judgment of the District Court of the Third Judicial District, conditionally releasing the respondent, Jerry W. McGuffey, a prisoner at the Utah State Prison, and ordering that McGuffey be returned to the Sixth Judicial District, Kane County, to stand trial on the charge of robbery.

### DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

On September 13, 1965, Jerry W. McGuffey plead guilty to the crime of robbery in the District Court of the Sixth Judicial District, Kane County, State of Utah, before the Honorable Ferdinand Erickson, District Judge. On the 22nd day of September,

1965, he was sentenced to be committed to the Utah State Prison. Thereafter, on November 22, 1965, the respondent filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in the District Court of the Third Judicial District, Salt Lake County, alleging in his petition that the plea of guilty entered before the District Court of the Sixth Judicial District had been coerced and that he had been denied his rights to counsel at the time of his preliminary hearing before the magistrate in the justice's court in Kane County. An answer to the petition for writ of habeas corpus was duly filed and hearing held thereon. Witnesses were called for both respondent and appellant. On the 7th day of February, 1966, the Honorable Marcellus K. Snow entered his decision, ordering that the petitioner be released from the Utah State Prison and returned to Kane County to stand trial on the charges of robbery. The court found that the petitioner was not properly advised of his rights to have counsel appointed prior to the preliminary hearing without legal advice from counsel and that his plea of guilty to the charge of robbery was entered without counsel and with the reasonable belief that such plea was necessary to obtain the release of his wife and prevent her prosecution for the crime of robbery.

On the 10th day of February, 1966, the district court entered an amended order providing for a stay of release of the petitioner pending appeal and ordering his return for reprosecution within fifteen



days of affirmance by this court or fifteen days after dismissal of any appeal.

On the 16th day of February, 1966, the appellant warden filed a notice of appeal to this court. The respondent filed a cross appeal on the 18th day of February, 1966, appealing the amended order of the court granting the stay of the release of Jerry W. McGuffey, pending this appeal. Subsequently, this court, upon motion of the respondent's new counsel, denied an application for release pending appeal and bail. Consequently, the issues raised by the cross-appeal are now moot.

The counsel for the respondent on appeal is not the same counsel who tried the case in the District Court of Salt Lake County on the respondent's application for a writ of habeas corpus.

## **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

The respondent, Jerry W. McGuffey, a prisoner in the Utah State Prison, filed a petition for a writ of habeas corpus in the District Court of Salt Lake County, State of Utah. The petition and amended petition alleged (1) the denial of counsel at preliminary hearing, (2) coercion inducing the petitioner to enter his plea of guilty in the District Court of Kane County, which plea resulted in his confinement in the Utah State Prison, and (3) that he was

not informed as to the consequences of his plea of guilty (R. 8).<sup>1</sup>

At the time of hearing on January 19, 1966, a transcript of the proceedings in the District Court for the Sixth Judicial District, in and for Kane County, were received into evidence (Exhibit 1). It appeared that at the time of the respondent's arraignment on the 13th day of September, 1965, he appeared without counsel, having theretofore waived preliminary hearing (T. 2). An amended information charging the respondent with the crime of robbery was filed with the court. The respondent waived his right to arraignment in Kane County and the matter was heard before the Honorable Ferdinand Erickson in Richfield, Sevier County. The court indicated with reference to the charges then pending against the wife of the respondent that the charges would be dismissed. The court then advised the respondent with reference to his right to counsel. The court stated:

"The law of our State also provides, Jerry, that before you are required to enter a plea to the Information charging you with the commission of a felony that you are entitled to an attorney, whom you may either employ on your own or in the event you are unable financially to provide the funds, the court may appoint one or is obliged to appoint one for you to represent you. So do you want to employ one or have the court appoint one for you?"

DEFENDANT: No. sir."

(1) The transcript of proceedings in the District Court for Kane County (Exhibit 1) will be referred to as "T." The proceedings in the District Court of Salt Lake County will be referred to as "R."

It further appeared that the respondent was advised that the crime of robbery was punishable by imprisonment in the Utah State Prison for a period of from ten years to life (T. 4).<sup>2</sup> Subsequent to the advice by the court as to the sentence that could be imposed upon a plea of guilty to the charge of robbery, the information was read, the respondent waived the time for entering his plea after advice, and entered a plea of guilty (T. 4). The court indicated that it needed additional information before passing sentence (T. 5).

On September 22, 1966, the respondent appeared before the court again and the district attorney recited that he had additional information to the effect that the respondent had other charges against him and had committed other crimes in other parts of the United States. (T. 7-8). The court then asked the respondent whether the statements by the district attorney were true and respondent indicated that they were (T. 10). After the indication of the other involvement of the respondent, the judge indicated that the respondent had fooled him (T. 11). The respondent admitted that it was his purpose to take money from the victim of the robbery and that he would have taken whatever money she had (T. 12). The court then asked the respondent if he

<sup>(2)</sup> The crime of robbery is actually punished by imprisonment in the Utah State Prison for a period of five years to life. However, since the petitioner-respondent was advised that the penalty for the crime was more severe than it actually was under the Utah statutes, no prejudice could have resulted to him. Further, the trial court did not in any way indicate that its judgment ordering the release of the petitioner-respondent was predicated upon any erroneous advice as to the possible consequences of the plea of guilty.

desired to consult with counsel before sentencing and the respondent declined (T. 12). He was again advised as to the penalty and further advised as to his right to counsel, which he refused. The court then entered a sentence committing the respondent to the Utah State Prison.

At the time of the hearing on the respondent's petition for a writ of habeas corpus, he testified that he had been committed to the Utah State Prison on the 22nd day of September, 1965, for the crime of robbery following his arrest in Kane County on September 8, 1965. (R. 34). He indicated that both his wife and he were charged with the crime of robbery (R. 35). Subsequent to his arrest, he was taken before a justice of the peace (R. 35). He indicated that he waived preliminary hearing (R. 36). He stated that prior to preliminary hearing, he had a conversation with the Sheriff and that the Sheriff advised him that it would be better if he waived preliminary hearing. (R. 36). He indicated that he could recall no statement from Justice of the Peace Hepworth, who is the justice before whom he appeared, except the statement to the effect that he was being bound over for trial. (R. 37). On cross-examination, he indicated that he was never advised that he could have counsel if he could afford it, although there is some ambiguity in his answers in the record (R. 49). He further indicated that prior to the time of the preliminary hearing, he had indicated to the Sheriff that he was guilty. He did admit that he waived preliminary hearing (R. 49). He testified that subsequent to his

waiver of preliminary hearing, he was bound over to the district court and appeared there on the 13th of September, 1965, and entered a plea to the charge. He indicated that prior to appearing in open court, he had a conversation with the Judge, the District Attorney, and the Sheriff at which conversation his wife was also present. He stated that probation was discussed and it was indicated that if he entered a plea of guilty he would be considered for probation (R. 38). He indicated that prior to that time, he had had a discussion with the Sheriff of Kane County in the Kane County Jail at Kanab, Utah, and that, more or less, the same thing was said. He further indicated that it was stated that if he plead guilty, the charges against his wife would be dropped (R. 39). He further indicated that there some mention about possibly expunging the record and obtaining his return to military service (R. 40-42). He stated that the judge indicated that the case would no be referred to the Adult Probation and Parole Department, but that the Sheriff would make an examination and advise the court (R. 40). He further testified that prior to the entry of his plea of guilty, he had a conversation with the Sheriff as to the feasibility of obtaining counsel and that the Sheriff told him that that would slow things up and that counsel would have to come from Salt Lake (R. 41). He admitted that he was advised as to the consequences of his plea and did not impeach the record as to its recital that he was advised as to the right to have counsel (R. 42).

On cross-examination, it appeared that the respondent had been convicted upon trial before a special Court-martial in the United States Air Force of AWOL under the Uniform Code of Military Justice and spent three months in a military stockade (R. 47). The trial court took judicial notice of the legal proceedings in special court-martials (R. 48). He admitted that he was advised that he could have a preliminary hearing to determine whether there was probable cause to see if he was guilty. He further indicated that he wanted to waive the preliminary hearing, because he felt that he was guilty (R. 49-50). He stated that he was never promised probation but it was merely indicated that he would be considered for it and that he understood there was no guarantee (R. 51). He recognized that Judge Erickson had not promised him probation (R. 51). He admitted that he was advised as to the right to counsel and stated that he plead guilty because "I didn't think it would be necessary to plead not guilty and that I wanted to waive jury trial." (R. 53-54). He stated that he had no doubt in his mind as to the commission of the offense for which he was charged (R. 54). The question was asked: "All right. Now, you plead guilty, knowing that you had committed that offense, didn't you? Answer: Yes." (R. 55).

The respondent further testified that the charges against his wife were, in fact, dropped. He further said he realized that going back into the service depended on his being accepted.

Patricia May McGuffey testified that she was

the wife of the respondent and that prior to the time he entered his plea of guilty, Sheriff Johnson had indicated that if the respondent would plead guilty, he might be able to get probation (R. 64). She didn't recall whether there was any mention of charges against her and could not recall whether there was any questions asked at preliminary hearing about an attorney (R. 64-65). Thereafter, after very leading questions from the respondent's counsel, she indicated that she recalled a conversation concerning dropping charges and the possibility of the respondent obtaining probation (R. 66-67). She stated that there was no doubt in her husband's mind that if he plead guilty, she wouldn't be prosecuted (R. 69). She stated that there was a conversation prior to the time he entered a plea of guilty with Judge Erickson, the District Attorney, and the Sheriff being present, where it was indicated that if the respondent plead guilty, he would be considered for probation, and at which time Judge Erickson also indicated that the charges would be dropped against her if her husband plead guilty (R. 70). Mrs. McGuffey stated that she was still in love with her husband (R. 69).

Sheriff LeNard Johnson of Kane County testified that he was present at the time of the magistrate's hearing. He said that the complaint was read and that the respondent was advised of his right to an attorney and that he could have an attorney at all proceedings, if he wanted it, including preliminary hearing and that the district court would appoint one if he couldn't afford one. (R. 70). He

indicated that the respondent had told him prior to the time of preliminary hearing that he was guilty and wanted to waive a hearing and get it over with (R. 70). Sheriff Johnson said that he advised the respondent prior to the time of the preliminary hearing that he was entitled to counsel and that he also advised that if he couldn't afford it, that counsel would be appointed. (R. 73). At the time of preliminary hearing, the Sheriff indicated that the respondent was advised again of his right to counsel and that counsel would be appointed if he couldn't afford it (R. 70). Thereafter, the respondent waived preliminary hearing.

The Sheriff indicated that subsequent to the waiver of preliminary hearing, the subject of probation was discussed with the respondent, but that he never advised him that he would get it and never advised him that he should plead guilty. The Sheriff indicated, in fact, that he advised him on several occasions that he should plead not guilty and let the court determine the issue (R. 74-75). He indicated that at no time did he promise or indicate to the respondent that he would get probation. The respondent at no time testified that he was promised probation.

The Sheriff stated that prior to the time of arraignment in the district court, both the respondent and his wife approached him and asked if there was a possibility that a dismissal could be obtained against the wife if the respondent plead guilty. He indicated that he didn't know, but that he would present the



matter to the District Attorney (R. 79). He indicated that he never advised the respondent that he should plead guilty. He further indicated that there was no agreement that if the respondent would plead guilty, the charges against his wife would be dropped. He stated that he felt the evidence simply did not support the charges against the wife and that the evidence seemed to indicate that she had been led into the crime by her husband (R. 83). He stated that he would have recommended dropping the charges against the wife, even if there had been no guilty plea entered.

The Sheriff further said that he never told McGuffey to waive counsel or that counsel would have to come from Salt Lake City.

The District Attorney, Ken Chamberlain, testified that he prosecuted Mr. McGuffey, that he first saw Mr. McGuffey at the time scheduled for his arraignment on September 13, 1965, and that prior to that time, he had had no discussions with the respondent (R. 87). He stated that there was a conversation in the chambers of Judge Erickson, at which time he, the sheriff, the judge, and Mr. and Mrs. McGuffey were present. He stated that prior to that time, the Sheriff had talked to him about possibility dismissing the charges against the respondent's wife. (R. 87). He stated that there was no arrangement or agreement made to dismiss the charges against the respondent's wife in exchange for a plea of guilty by the respondent but that the evidence simply did

not justify continuing to press the charges against the respondent's wife because it appeared that Mrs. McGuffey's involvement in the crime was because of the domination of her husband (R. 88). He further indicated that there were no promises of probation by himself, the Sheriff, or the Judge, at this time. Mr. Chamberlain further testified that it was not the practice to appoint counsel for indigents from Salt Lake City, but, rather, to obtain counsel for them in Richfield and that in his experience, he had never seen counsel appointed from Salt Lake City (R. 90). Mr. Chamberlain further testified that he had already decided to dismiss the charges against respondent's wife and that no condition that the respondent plead guilty was placed upon such a dismissal (R. 92). He stated that the respondent's plea was not a factor in the dismissal of the charges. He categorically stated that it was not reasonable to assume that Mr. McGuffey had been under the impression that it was necessary for him to plead guilty for the charges to be dismissed against his wife and that at no time had Judge Erickson made any promises in his presence to the respondent.

Based upon the above evidence, the trial court found that the respondent was entitled to a writ of habeas corpus based upon the failure to have counsel at the time of preliminary hearing and the claim that the respondent plead guilty in order to have the charges against his wife dropped.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT THE RESPONDENT WAS ENTITLED TO A WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS BECAUSE OF HIS CONTENTION THAT HIS PLEA ENTERED AT THE TIME OF ARRAIGNMENT IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF KANE COUNTY WAS INVOLUNTARY.

The appellant submits that the trial court committed error in finding that there was any irregularity or impropriety at the time of the respondent's plea of guilty entered to the crime of robbery in the Sixth Judicial District Court for Kane County on September 13, 1965. The appellant submits that the court erred in two particulars: First, that the court erred in finding that there was sufficient evidence to sustain the respondent's burden of proof that he was entitled to habeas corpus. Second, that the court erred in that it misapplied the law in weighing whether the respondent's plea of guilty was voluntary.

It is well established that an individual seeking release from custody by petition for writ of habeas corpus has the burden of proof to demonstrate to the court that he is entitled to release. **Ex parte Riddle**, 57 Cal.2d 848, 22 Cal.Rep. 472, 372 P.2d 304 (1962); 39 C.J.S., Habeas Corpus, sec. 100; 25 Am. Jur., Habeas Corpus, sec. 150. Consequently, it was incumbent upon the respondent in the instant case

to carry the burden of proof to show that he was entitled to a writ of habeas corpus.

Recently, courts have recognized that there is an increasing use of the writ of habeas corpus to make inquiry into procedures occurring at the time of trial or at the time of arraignment and that inquiry under habeas corpus is broader in scope than it has been previously, and it is not limited to the very basic question of whether the individual having custody of the petitioner is entitled to have custody because he is a person in proper authority, or that the individual having custody has jurisdiction to exercise dominion over the person in custody. Because of the expanded use of writs of habeas corpus and the fact that they are often post-conviction retrials of the issues previously heard by a court, appellate courts have imposed a rather heavy burden of proof upon an individual seeking release from custody by habeas corpus.

In **Wilson v. Hand**, 181 Kan. 483, 311 P.2d 1009 (1957), the Kansas Supreme Court stated with reference to a habeas corpus proceeding:

"In this type of proceeding, the petitioner has the burden of proving the grounds upon which he relies for his release \*\*\* and he must establish his allegations by a clear and convincing preponderance of the evidence because a judgment of conviction bears a presumption of regularity and validity."

In **Montgomery v. Hand**, 183 Kan. 118, 325 P.2d 69 (1958), the Kansas Supreme Court again stated:

“However, the burden was upon the petitioner to prove by clear and convincing evidence the grounds upon which he relies for his release.”

In **Application of Gaskill**, 335 P.2d 1088 (Court of Crim. App. Okla. 1959), the court noted:

“Moreover, to vacate a judgment and sentence by habeas corpus for alleged denial of fundamental constitutional rights, where the judgment is regular on its face, the proof must be clear, convincing and without doubt.”

In **In Re O'Neill**, 359 P.2d 619 (Court of Crim. App. Okla. 1961), the court again indicated that in order to justify the release of a petitioner, by habeas corpus, the evidence showing a violation of constitutional rights must be clear and convincing. It is noteworthy that the O'Neill case involved a claim by a petitioner that his plea of guilty was coerced because of threats by a county attorney that he would be turned over to a mob unless he entered a plea of guilty.

In **Farmer v. Raines**, 276 P.2d 633 (Okl. Crim. 1962), the syllabus of the court indicated:

“Public policy demands that the charges of petitioner in habeas corpus proceedings should be clear and convincing and should be corroborated by clear and convincing proof.”

Thus, the courts are recognizing that in the absence of an obvious defect in the record of any proceedings, an individual seeking his release from

custody by habeas corpus should demonstrate by clear and convincing evidence that his detention is unlawful. Certainly, there must be a presumption of judicial regularity and a recognition that where an individual enters a plea of guilty he does so under circumstances which are not inherently coercive. A defendant is before the court and can make a statement in his own behalf and if it appears, as it does in this case, that the respondent was clearly advised of his rights to counsel, it would seem to be a matter of sound public policy to require the person in custody to demonstrate by clear and convincing evidence that he is unjustifiably held.

It is submitted that in the instant case, the respondent in no way met the required burden of proof. In respect to the determination of the court that the respondent's plea of guilty was improvidently entered, it is submitted that such a finding is not supported by clear and convincing evidence and is contrary to the weight of testimony presented at the time of trial.

First, the transcript of proceedings of the respondent's arraignment clearly indicates that at the time he entered his plea of guilty, he was well aware that the charges against his wife had been dropped. The district attorney amended the information, and the court in questioning the respondent obtained the response of the respondent and he was aware of the fact the charges had been dropped. The court thereafter very carefully advised the respon-

ent of his rights to appear in Kane County and the respondent intelligently waived his appearance in Kane County and entered his plea in Sevier County. The court then went on to advise respondent that before he was required to enter a plea to the information, that he was entitled to an attorney, and the court stated: "Whom you may either employ on your own, or in the event you are unable financially to provide the funds, the court may appoint one or is obliged to appoint one for you to represent you." The court then asked the respondent if he desired counsel and he stated: "No, sir." (T. 3). Thereafter, the respondent was advised as to the penalty that could be imposed by the court in the event the court saw fit to do so. The information was read and the respondent was advised that he was entitled to time to consider the matter before he entered a plea of guilty. The respondent replied that he was ready to enter his plea at that time. The court then asked the respondent how he plead to the information and he replied: "Guilty, sir." (T. 4). Thereafter, the respondent's sentencing was delayed pending a determination as to his background and whether there were any other charges pending against him. At the time respondent appeared for sentencing, he was again advised as to his right to counsel and again he waived counsel. He was further advised, again, as to the consequences of his plea and the possibility that he could be incarcerated in the Utah State Prison for a period of five years to life and after such advice, the respondent still indicated that he did not desire counsel.

The District Attorney informed the court as to prior difficulties the respondent had been involved in, and the respondent admitted that the District Attorney's statement was correct. At no time, does it appear from the transcript, that the respondent, in any way, desired to have his plea set aside, nor did he at any time indicate that he was under coercion or misapprehension. There is nothing in the transcripts of proceedings at the time of the respondent's arraignment or his sentencing that demonstrates any illegality.

At the time of the hearing, the respondent testified that when he entered his plea of guilty, he recognized that there was no promise of probation and that he would only be considered for probation. Further, the trial court on habeas corpus made no finding to the effect that the respondent was under any misapprehension as to the likelihood of his receiving probation if he entered a plea of guilty. The respondent stated that he had discussed the question of entering a plea of guilty with the District Attorney, the Sheriff, and the Judge, immediately prior to his arraignment (R. 38). The respondent further testified that at this conference with the Judge, he was told that he was entitled to counsel but that counsel would have to come from Salt Lake City and that since he was being considered for probation anyway, he didn't see where it was necessary. This was rebutted by the District Attorney. Further, the respondent indicated that he pleaded guilty knowing he had committed the offense and might go to prison (R. 55). The respondent's wife



testified that she was present at a pre-arraignment meeting in chambers where the District Attorney, the Sheriff, and the Judge and her husband were also present. She indicated, at the outset, (R. 64), that she didn't recall if there was anything mentioned regarding any charges against her. She further indicated that she couldn't recall what Judge Erickson had said specifically (R. 70). However, in other instances, she says that she recalled the conversation concerning dropping the charges.

On the opposite side, the District Attorney testified that there was a conversation, but that at no time was there any indication to the respondent that counsel would have to be brought from Salt Lake City, nor was there any promise made to him. The District Attorney indicated that the reason the charges were dropped against the respondent's wife was because the case against her was weak. This was corroborated by the Sheriff, who stated that the original request to drop the charges against the respondent's wife if he plead guilty, came from the respondent himself. The Sheriff indicated that at no time did he advise the respondent to plead guilty, but to the contrary, had advised him several times to plead not guilty and to get the matter heard by the court. He further stated that the respondent had indicated that he was guilty and would like to get it over with. The testimony of the Sheriff and the District Attorney, both men with unimpeachable backgrounds, was exactly to the opposite of that of the respondent. There is nothing in the record to

support the respondent's contentions of duress or coercion and, in addition, it should be remembered that the respondent had previously been convicted of a military offense and spent time in a military confinement facility. Further, he had committed several other violations of law throughout the United States which were committed at the time of the sentencing, which would tend to cast substantial doubt on his veracity.

With the posture of the evidence being such as indicated above, it cannot be said that the respondent carried his burden to prove by clear and convincing evidence that he was entitled to release.

It is well established that where an individual is fully advised of his rights and waives his right to counsel, there is no constitutional violation of the right to counsel. **State v. Spiers**, 12 U.2d 14, 361 P.2d 509 (1961). In the Spiers case, this court noted first that the burden of proof was upon the defendant to show that he had been denied his constitutional rights and stated:

"There was no evidence of fear or coercion, or any other reason why he was induced to waive his rights, other than he thought the course he took was for his best good. There was nothing to indicate that at any stage of the proceedings he did not understand what was going on, the questions asked or the effect of the waiver of counsel. In view of this situation, we conclude that the trial court's finding that he intelligently waived his right to counsel must be sustained."

In the instant case, there is no evidence of any fear or threats or coercion of any kind. The only evidence before the trial court was that the respondent felt that the best course to follow would be to plead guilty. Consequently, there was clearly an intelligent waiver of the right to counsel and a voluntary plea of guilty.

In **Busby v. Holman**, 356 F.2d 75 (5th Cir. 1966), two state prisoners serving life sentence in the Alabama State Penitentiary sought federal writs of habeas corpus. Each had been charged with a capital crime. One was charged with forceable rape, and one had been charged with murder in the first degree. Each had plead guilty to the charges in reliance upon the prosecutor's promise that he would not seek the death penalty. The prosecutor did not seek the death penalty. The court indicated that there was no basis for habeas corpus. The court stated:

"The important thing is not that there shall be no 'deal' or 'bargain' but that the plea shall be genuine, by a defendant who is guilty; one who understands his situation, his rights and the consequences of his plea and is neither deceived nor coerced."

In this case, there was no showing that the plea of guilty entered by the respondent wasn't with full understanding as to the nature and consequences of the plea. Even assuming the position taken by the respondent that he plead guilty in order to obtain the dismissal of charges against his wife, it does not appear that that plea was improvident. Indeed,

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