1966

Jerry W. McGuffey v. John W. Turner, Warden, Utah State Prison : Brief of Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT ERROR IN RULING THAT THE RESPONDENT WAS ENTITLED TO A

WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS SINCE THERE WAS SUFFICIENT CREDIBLE EVIDENCE BEFORE THE COURT TO SUPPORT THE COURT'S RULING.

It is clear the burden is upon a petitioner to sustain proof of the allegations contained in a Habeas Corpus petition *Application of Salisbury*, 363 P.2d 380 (1961). However, as to the degree of proof required to discharge this burden the respondent submits that a Habeas Corpus petitioner should prevail with a bare or simple preponderance of proof. The appellant urges in his brief that clear and convincing proof of the allegations in a Habeas Corpus petition should be required. Rights guaranteed to citizens through the State and Federal Constitutions should be vigilantly protected by the courts. As a result, justice dictates a necessity for watchfulness against an involuntary waiver of these fundamental constitutional rights. Every presumption should be indulged against a waiver of these rights and courts should not presume an acquiescence in their loss. *Ex Parte Cannon*, Okl., 351 P.2d 756 (1960); *Cottrell v. McLeon*, Okl., 302 P.2d 240 (1959); *Application of McDaniel*, Okl., 302 P.2d 496 (1956). Various jurisdictions have recognized a standard of proof requiring a simple preponderance. Such a standard was announced in *Ex Parte Ancheta*, 80 Cal. App. 2d 253, 181 P.2d 686 (1947).

In *Wilson v. Turner*, (208 P.2d 846 (1949)) the Kansas Supreme Court held where one is convicted of a crime and subsequently attacks the sentence and judgment un-

der which he is confined on the ground that his constitutional rights were violated, as in the instant case, he must establish the facts disclosing this violation by a preponderance of the evidence.

Earlier, the Kansas Court held in *Wilson v. Hudspeth*, 165 Kan. 666, 189 P.2d 165 (1948) that the burden on the petitioner in a Habeas Corpus action was to prove a violation of his constitutional rights by a preponderance of the evidence.

Thus, a petitioner in a Habeas Corpus action can sustain his burden of proof by a simple preponderance of the evidence. On the other hand, respondent submits that where the trial court has made a determination in a Habeas Corpus proceeding, a party seeking to overturn that decision must demonstrate to this court by clear and convincing evidence that the trial court's action was unreasonable.

This court in the case of *Scott v. Beckstead*, 13 Ut. 2d 428, 375 P.2d 767 (1962), held that on appeal from the denial of a petition for a Writ of Habeas Corpus the petitioner's case must be established by clear and convincing evidence that it would be unreasonable for the trial court to deny the petition.

Conversly, when the trial court grants a petition in a Habeas Corpus action, as in the instant case, the appellant

must assume the burden of demonstrating by clear and convincing evidence that it would be unreasonable for the trial court to grant the petition. The respondent submits the evidence not only shows the reasonable nature of the trial court's decision, but a distinct lack of the required clear and convincing proof to the contrary.

POINT 2

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT ERROR IN CONCLUDING THAT THE RESPONDENT WAS ENTITLED TO A WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS SINCE THE CREDIBILITY OF THE WITNESSES AT THE HEARING IS FOR THE DETERMINATION OF THE TRIAL COURT AND SHOULD BE CONCLUSIVE ON APPEAL.

It is well established that the demeanor and credibility of a witness in a judicial proceeding are matters for the determination of the trier of the facts. Following this rule, the Supreme Court of Kansas held that where a trial court, after a full hearing on the merits of a Habeas Corpus petition, found the petitioner understandingly waived his right to counsel and entered a plea of guilty, the interpretation on that evidence would not be reviewed on appeal. *Crebs v. Hudspeth*, 160 Kan. 650, 164 P.2d 338 (1945) *Cert. denied* 66 S. Ct. 1348, 328 U.S. 857 90 L. Ed. 1628).

This Court, ruling on an appeal from a Habeas Corpus proceeding which involved the custody of a five-year old

child held that some consideration would be given to the advantaged position of the trial judge and to his findings of fact. It was further stated the judgment would not be disturbed unless it was clearly an error. *Application of Conde*, 10 Ut. 2d 25, 347 P.2d 859 (1959).

In *Allen v. Cranor*, 45 Wash. 2d 25, 272 P.2d 153 (1954) the Supreme Court of the State of Washington reviewed an appeal from a Habeas Corpus proceeding by a prisoner who allegedly plead guilty to a charge of carnal knowledge upon the understanding that the minimum term would be set by the Board of Pardons, when in fact, the Board had no such authority. The court held that on appeal from an order granting the Habeas Corpus Writ it would accept as the facts in the case, the trial court's finding that the petitioner had been deprived of due process.

Likewise in the case before this Court, the trier of the facts found as fact that the respondent was not properly advised on his rights to have counsel appointed and further that the respondent entered his plea of guilty without the advice of counsel and with the reasonable belief that such was necessary to free his wife and prevent her prosecution, and that such plea was not voluntarily entered. (R-12). The respondent, therefore, urges the court to accept the findings entered by the trial judge as the facts controlling on appeal.

A recent Kansas Supreme Court decision, *Finnell v. Patrons Co-operative Bank*, 193 Kan. 354, 394 P.2d 116 (1964), stated:

“Where the trial court’s findings are attacked because of insufficient evidence, the power of a review court begins and ends with a determination of whether there is any substantial evidence to support the findings.

“It is the function of the trier of facts, not the reviewing court to determine which witness and what testimony it should believe.” (Syllabus of the court ¶ 1, 2)

These holdings were applied to a ruling on an appeal from a Habeas Corpus proceeding in *Tipton v. State*, 194 Kan. 705, 402 P.2d 310 (1965).

Evidence was presented through testimony of the respondent and his wife that the respondent entered a plea of guilty upon agreement that the charge against the respondent’s wife would be dismissed (R-43, 69, 70). Although the appellant argues that there was evidence to the contrary, the trial court found in favor of the respondent’s contentions. The respondent submits that this testimony if accepted by the trial court as credible is sufficient to support the court’s finding, conclusions and order. The fact that the trial court, at least in part, chose to disbelieve the contradictory evidence of the appellant’s witnesses cannot of itself furnish the basis to overturn the district court’s decision.

The trier of fact in the instant case, after a full and exhaustive hearing, found sufficient evidence favoring the respondent to support the issuance of a Writ of Habeas Corpus. This court, viewing the record, should be reluctant to disturb the findings of the court below.

On appeal the evidence should be taken more strongly in favor of the order granting petitioner's Writ and any conflicts on the evidence should be resolved in favor of the respondent. *Ex Parte Gutierrez*, 122 Cal. App. 2d 661, 265 P.2d 16 (1954).

When the record of the instant case is viewed in light of the above principles, it becomes clear there is substantial fact and legal basis to support the decision of the trial court.

CONCLUSION

The petitioner was denied due process of law, and this denial was justly and properly corrected by the court below. It is therefore submitted that this court affirm the decision of the trial court.